Bernardino Baldi's In mechanica Aristotelis problemata exercitationes

Max Planck Research Library for the History and Development of Knowledge

Series Editors

Jürgen Renn, Robert Schlögl, Bernard F. Schutz.

Edition Open Access Development Team

Lindy Divarci, Beatrice Gabriel, Jörg Kantel, Matthias Schemmel, and Kai Surendorf, headed by Peter Damerow.

Scientific Board

Markus Antonietti, Ian Baldwin, Antonio Becchi, Fabio Bevilacqua, William G. Boltz, Jens Braarvik, Horst Bredekamp, Jed Z. Buchwald, Olivier Darrigol, Thomas Duve, Mike Edmunds, Yehuda Elkana, Fynn Ole Engler, Robert K. Englund, Mordechai Feingold, Rivka Feldhay, Gideon Freudenthal, Paolo Galluzzi, Kostas Gavroglu, Mark Geller, Domenico Giulini, Günther Görz, Gerd Graßhoff, James Hough, Manfred Laubichler, Glenn Most, Pier Daniele Napolitani, Alessandro Nova, Hermann Parzinger, Dan Potts, Circe Silva da Silva, Ana Simões, Richard Stephenson, Mark Stitt, Noel M. Swerdlow, Liba Taub, Martin Vingron, Scott Walter, Norton Wise, Gerhard Wolf, Rüdiger Wolfrum, Zhang Baichun.

Sources 3

Edition Open Access 2011

Bernardino Baldi's In mechanica Aristotelis problemata exercitationes

Elio Nenci

Communicated by Jürgen Renn and Antonio Becchi

Edition Open Access 2011

Max Planck Research Library for the History and Development of Knowledge Sources 3

Communicated by Jürgen Renn and Antonio Becchi Translated from Italian into English by Adriano Carugo Copyedited by Lindy Divarci

ISBN 978-3-86931-961-2 First published 2011 Printed in Germany by epubli, Oranienstraße 183, 10999 Berlin http://www.epubli.de Edition Open Access

http://www.edition-open-access.de

Published under Creative Commons by-nc-sa 3.0 Germany Licence http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/de/

The Deutsche National bibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche National bibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available in the Internet at <code>http://dnb.d-nb.de</code>.

The images of the facsimile part are produced by the Digitization Center of the *Bavarian State Library*, *Munich* from an original of the library's rare book collection, call number Res/4 A.hydr.79

The Max Planck Research Library for the History and Development of Knowledge comprises three subseries, Studies, Proceedings, and Sources. They present research results and the relevant sources in a new format that combines the advantages of traditional publications and the digital medium. Available both as printed books and as online open access publications they present original scientific work submitted under the scholarly responsibility of members of the Scientific Board and their academic peers.

The volumes of the three subseries and their electronic counterparts are directed at scholars and students of various disciplines, and at a broader public interested in how science shapes our world. They provide rapid access to knowledge at low cost. Moreover, by combining print with digital publication, the series offer a new way of publishing research in flux and of studying historical topics or current issues in relation to primary materials that are otherwise not easily available.

The initiative is presently supported by research departments of three Max Planck Institutes, the MPI for the History of Science, the Fritz Haber Institute of the MPG, and the MPI for Gravitational Physics (Albert Einstein Institute). This is in line with the Berlin Declaration on Open Access to Knowledge in the Sciences and Humanities, launched by the Max Planck Society in 2003.

The volumes of the *Studies* series are dedicated to a key subject in the history and development of knowledge, bringing together perspectives from different fields and combining source-based empirical research with theoretically guided approaches. *Studies* typically present working group volumes with integrative approaches to problems ranging from the globalization of knowledge to the nature of spatial thinking.

The volumes of the *Proceedings* series present the results of scientific meetings on current issues and support further cooperation on these issues with an electronic platform.

The volumes of the *Sources* series typically presents a primary source – relevant for the history and development of knowledge – in facsimile, transcription, or translation. The original sources are complemented by an introduction and by commentaries reflecting original scholarly work. The sources reproduced in this series may be rare books, manuscripts, documents or other materials that are not readily accessible in libraries and archives.

On the basis of scholarly expertise the publication of the three series brings together traditional books produced by print-on-demand techniques with modern information technology. Based on and extending the functionalities of the existing open access repository ECHO (European

Cultural Heritage Online), this initiative aims at a model for an unprecedented, web-based scientific working environment integrating access to information with interactive features.

Contents

Part	1: On this Book	1
1	The Author	3
2	The Context	7
3	The Book	15
3.1	The General Principle: The Figure of the Circle	16
3.2	The Balance: Questions 1–2, 9–10 and 20	17
3.3	The Lever: Questions 3, 21–22, 28	19
3.4	Problems Concerning Sailing: Questions 4–7	20
3.5	The Easy Movement of Bodies with Round Shapes:	
	Question 8	23
3.6	The Simple Machines. The Axle in the Wheel, the Pulley and the Wedge: Questions 11, 13, 17–18	25
3.7	The Sling: Question 12	$\frac{26}{27}$
3.8	The Breaking and Deformation of Materials. Pieces of Wood	
	and Pebbles: Questions 14–16	28
3.9	The Force of Percussion: Question 19	29
3.10	The Composition of Motions: Questions 23–24	30
3.11	The Construction of Beds: Question 25	33
3.12	The Placement of Weights Carried on the Shoulders:	
	Questions 26–27, 29	33
3.13	Rising from a Sitting Position: Question 30	35
3.14	Problems Concerning Motion: Questions 31–34	36
3.15	The Motion of Bodies in Eddying Water: Question 35	37
3.16	Appendix: The Problem of the Two Mean Proportionals	37
4	Online Sources	39
4.1	The First Edition of the Treatise of Baldi	39
4.2	Ancient and Renaissance Sources Concerning Mechanics	
	Used by Baldi	39
4.3	Other Works and Translations by Baldi	39

4.4	Other Renaissance Sources	40
	Bibliography	41
Part	2: Facsimile	45

Part 1: On this Book

Chapter 1 The Author

Bernardino Baldi was born in Urbino on June 6, 1553. After studying ancient languages, he joined the group of scholars around the famous mathematician Federico Commandino. For many years Commandino had been preparing editions of the most important works of ancient mathematicians, translating them into Latin and providing them with textual commentaries. Baldi himself took part in this enterprise. In his *Life of Commandino* he recalls: "when I was young and dedicated to these studies, I drew many of these geometrical figures with great labor." And again, in the preface to his Italian translation of Hero's Automati (Automata) he wrote:

Hero wrote Spiritali (Pneumatics) as well as these Automati, and recently Federico Commandino translated Spiritali into Latin and illustrated it with figures.⁴ What Hero then wrote concerning Semoventi (Automata), fallen into oblivion since antiquity, was rescued and brought to light by me, at the suggestion of Commandino.⁵

Baldi studied under Commandino from 1570 to 1575, though between 1573 and 1575 he also attended the University of Padua to study medicine. But in Padua, as he himself states in one of his unpublished works, instead of dedicating himself to medical studies he followed the lectures on philosophy⁶ and those on classical literature given by Emanuel Margunios⁷ with whom he became friends. He also attended lectures on mathematics given by Pietro Catena,⁸ though without much benefit, as he himself states in his *Cronica de' matematici*:

¹Federico Commandino, 1509–1575.

²Baldi (1998, 518).

³Hero of Alexandria, first century CE.

⁴Commandino (1575).

⁵Baldi (1589, 9r).

⁶ Genio, overo la misteriosa peregrinatione, Serrai (2002, 174–175).

⁷Emanuel Margunios, 1549–1602.

⁸Pietro Catena, 1501–1576.

4 1. The Author

Pietro Catena (1573), Padua. He was giving lectures on mathematics during the time I was at the University of Padua, and I attended his lectures on Aristotle's *Mechanics*. He was old and facetious so that his classroom was filled with people who wanted to laugh rather than learn. He was not a man of great learning, and published just a small and simple work on the *Sphere*.⁹

Baldi's most important work from that time was the Italian translation of Hero's *Automati*, which he had already finished, as can be seen from the dedication to the Venetian Giacomo Contarini:¹⁰

When Federico Commandino was still alive, I translated from the Greek text these two books of Hero's *Semoventi*, thinking of publishing it at the time Commandino himself published *Spiritali* by the same ancient author. But other unexpected business as well as Commandino's sudden death forced me to postpone the publication of the work.¹¹

Soon after Commandino's death, Baldi began to collect material for the composition of his work *Vite de' matematici (Lives of Mathematicians*), while continuing his study of mathematics under the guidance of Guidobaldo del Monte. ¹² In 1580 he found a permanent position at the court of Guastalla, where he was employed as a court mathematician by Ferrante Gonzaga. ¹³ The first biographer of Baldi, Fabrizio Scarloncino, ¹⁴ states that in 1582 Baldi wrote a commentary on the *Mechanical Problems* ascribed to Aristotle. This might have been the first draft of what was later published in the *Exercitationes*, which are presented here. ¹⁵

During the next period of his life, Baldi produced many literary works as well as a series of studies on Vitruvius. 16 About these works he wrote in his $\it Life of Vitruvius$:

As to *Scamilli impares*,¹⁷ I wrote a little treatise where I rejected the opinions of all those who wrote about it before me;

⁹Baldi (1707, 135–136).

¹⁰Giacomo Contarini, 1536–1595.

¹¹Baldi (1589, segn.A2r).

¹²Guidobaldo del Monte, 1545–1607.

¹³Ferrante II Gonzaga di Guastalla, 1563–1630.

¹⁴Nothing is known about Fabrizio Scarloncino.

¹⁵Baldi (1621, segn.):():(3v).

¹⁶Marcus Vitruvius Pollio, first century BCE.

¹⁷Baldi (1612b).

1. The Author 5

but I do not say anything more, leaving judgement to those who will read it. I also started another work on that author, at the suggestion of Vespasiano Gonzaga Duke of Sabbioneta¹⁸ since he was pleased to agree with me on the interpretation of this author's work. It was a *Dittionario Vitruviano*¹⁹ where all the obscure terms contained in his *Architectura* were explained. This I did with no great difficulty because since childhood I have had a natural inclination for languages and other things. I carried on this work up to the sixth book, but I could not finish it because of my new employment; so I put it aside.

With the support of Ferrante Gonzaga, in 1586 Baldi was made Abbot of Guastalla. This provoked a basic shift in focus from scientific topics to the study of oriental languages and theological matters. In the following year he began the composition of his *Vite de' matematici*, starting with the biography of Commandino. Occasionally, though, he resumed his study of mathematics, for example, in the course of the further publication of part of his own works, or when Guidobaldo del Monte's son asked him to attend to the publication of his late father's unpublished writings. On November 3, 1608, Orazio del Monte²⁰ wrote to Baldi:

Signor Pier Matteo Giordani²¹ is going to send me some short treatises written by my father so that you can have a look at them, since I am planning to publish these as well, as soon as the printing of *Astronomici Problemi*²² is finished. Following your thoughtful advice, I agree that it is better to first issue these *Problemi*, and then *Cochlea*²³ and other short treatises left unpublished by my father.²⁴

But Baldi's main interest had already turned to other literary fields, as is evident from the works he wrote between 1592 and 1600. In 1596 Baldi went to Rome where he was a guest of Cardinal Cinzio Aldobrandini until the beginning of 1598.²⁵ At the cardinal's court he took up the study of Arabic with Giovan Battista Raimondi,²⁶ an accomplished mathematician

¹⁸Vespasiano Gonzaga di Sabbioneta, 1531–1591.

¹⁹Baldi (1612a).

²⁰Orazio del Monte, ca. 1570–1614.

²¹Pier Matteo Giordani, ca. 1556–1636.

²²Guidobaldo del Monte (1609).

²³Guidobaldo del Monte (1615).

²⁴See Affò (1783, 222).

²⁵Cinzio Aldobrandini Passeri, 1551–1610.

²⁶Giovan Battista Raimondi, 1536–1614.

6 1. The Author

and scholar of this language. In this period Baldi became interested in works of Arabic authors, a new activity which resulted in the translation of a large geographical work.

At the beginning of 1600 Baldi tried to publish some of his literary works, but only some of these were published, in Pavia and in Parma. In the meantime he became acquainted with Francesco Maria II Duke of Urbino,²⁷ who commissioned him to write a biography of Federico of Montefeltro.²⁸ The favor he had found with the Duke, and the problems caused by his position as abbot, provoked him in 1609 to leave Guastalla and take up employment at the Duke's court. In his new position he was charged with important tasks: in 1612, as ambassador of the Duke, he traveled to Venice to attend the ceremony of the proclamation of the new Doge. In those years some of his works were published in Germany, including his two books on Vitruvius – thanks to the intervention of Marcus Welser²⁹ – and his translation of Hero's *Belopoeica*, the last of his works to be published while he was still alive.³⁰ During the last years of his life Baldi wrote a biography of Guidobaldo I Duke of Urbino, ³¹ who succeeded Federico of Montefeltro, and dedicated all his efforts to the composition of a massive geographical encyclopedia, which remained incomplete at the time his death on October 10, 1617.

²⁷Francesco Maria II della Rovere, 1549–1631.

²⁸Federico da Montefeltro, 1422–1482.

²⁹Marcus Welser, 1558–1614.

³⁰Baldi (1616).

³¹Guidobaldo I da Montefeltro, 1472–1508.

Chapter 2 The Context

During the Renaissance many works from Greek and Roman antiquity were recovered, studied, and expanded with commentaries. At first, this process of acquisition and assimilation of the classical cultural heritage concerned mainly the fields of literature, history and philosophy. Later, in the sixteenth century, this process began to include works on scientific and technical subjects as well. The study of ancient Greek texts in the original language and their new translations directly into Latin – replacing the much criticized extant Arabic translations – as well as the comparative study of different sources became one of the main activities of mathematicians and astronomers.

In this general movement a number of ancient texts on mechanics were also discovered and studied: the *Mechanical Problems* ascribed to Aristotle; a work by Archimedes entitled *On the Equilibrium of Planes*, which according to Baldi's testimony was regarded by Guidobaldo as "the book of Elements of the whole field of mechanics" and which he published in 1588 under the title *In duos Archimedis aequeponderantium libros Paraphrasis*; *Pneumatics* by Hero of Alexandria; and Book Eight of Pappus' *Mathematical Collections*. Among these works, it was the text ascribed to Aristotle which received the greatest attention of the scholars: the studies and commentaries of this work made during the Renaissance were essential for the development of mechanics before Galileo and Descartes.³

In *Mechanical Problems*, which was generally considered to be a work by Aristotle himself, though it is now thought to have been produced within the Peripatetic School,⁴ the author tried for the first time to base the explanation of the working of 'simple machines' (such as the lever, the windlass, the wedge and the pulley) on a single mathematical principle,

¹Baldi (1887, 54–55), Guidobaldo del Monte (1588, 4).

²Pappus of Alexandria (1588).

³See Drake and Rose (1971); Micheli (1995).

⁴The text cannot be ascribed to Aristotle with any certainty, but for the purpose of clarity, we will nevertheless quote him as its author since almost all Renaissance authors agree on this attribution.

8 2. The Context

and to solve a series of questions which are answered by referring to the same mathematical model. The starting point of the whole treatise was the astonishment caused by operations carried out by means of a lever, such as the lifting of great weights which man was unable to move without that instrument. But even greater astonishment was caused by the fact that, by adding weight to weight, that is, by adding the weight of the lever to the weight to be lifted, the whole thing could be moved more easily. This fact seemed to challenge the obvious relation between the force needed to move a certain body and its weight. In fact, experience clearly shows that things 'weighing less' are easier to move than things 'weighing more.'

The author of *Mechanical Problems* moved on to formulate the principle that could explain this remarkable fact: this principle is directly related to the movement of the lever, so that the working of the simple machines can be reduced to the properties of a circle. He also considers it remarkable that the circle is made up of opposites, a fact that becomes obvious when the circle is generated by a rotating line fixed at one end:

- 1. The circle is made by what is stationary, i.e., one end of the radius, and by what is moving, i.e., the other parts of the radius that move round and produce the surface of the circle.
- 2. The circle is concave inside the circumference, as well as convex outside the circumference.
- 3. The rotating circle moves simultaneously in opposite directions, for it moves simultaneously forwards and backwards.
- 4. The circle is made by the movement of a line drawn as a radius from the center, but no two points on that line move at the same pace: the point which is further from the fixed center moves more rapidly.

This idea of the circle differs remarkably from that which is contained in Definition 15 and 16 of Book One of Euclid's *Elements*. Here the figure is already given, without any reference to its generation. In *Mechanical Problems*, on the other hand, the whole argument seems to be based on properties derived directly from the way in which the figure is produced: it is traced not by means of a pair of compasses, but rather by means of a line rotating around a fixed point at one end.

From the property of the circle, according to which points marked on the rotating radius move at different speeds, the author of *Mechanical Problems* explains why bodies placed on the radius at different distances from the center each move at different speeds, increasing with their distance from the center. He regards the motion of the points on the radius as composed of a natural downward motion along the vertical tangent, and a lateral motion against nature toward the fixed center of the rotation, and

2. The Context 9

shows that this lateral component of the motion increases the closer it is to the center. This moving closer to the center was perceived as obstructing the natural motion, which in consequence is slowed down.

Having thus explained why the point more distant from the center moves more quickly than the point closer to it, though impelled by the same force, the author of *Mechanical Problems* moves on to explain why larger balances are more accurate than smaller ones: the extremity of the balance scale must move at a greater speed, under the influence of the same weight, the greater its distance is from the pivot upon which it turns. Consequently in a larger balance the same weight makes a more visible movement.

Many sixteenth-century authors studied the Mechanical Problems. Some, such as Niccolò Leonico Tomeo⁵ and Alessandro Piccolomini, ⁶ translated this work from the original Greek into Latin and added brief linguistic comments. Others, such as Girolamo Cardano⁷ and Niccolò Tartaglia,⁸ discussed only a few questions in detail: they examined the theory of the balance presented by the author of the ancient text in light of the new concepts and methods of demonstration introduced by the medieval science of weights (scientia de ponderibus). Tomeo was one of the leading scholars to study Aristotle's works during the first decades of the sixteenth century. After translating De parva naturalia, De motu animalium and De incessu animalium, around 1525 he turned to the task of translating the Mechanical Problems. His translation was so good that it replaced a previous translation made in 1517 by the Venetian humanist Vittore Fausto and became the text used by most of the commentators of Mechanical Problems from the mid-sixteenth to the mid-seventeenth century. The first and second editions of this translation, published in Venice in 1525 and in Paris in 1530, were provided with a commentary which was not reprinted in later editions.⁹

The text of *Mechanical Problems* is often so obscure and compact that from early on it required explanatory notes and commentaries. Alessandro Piccolomini chose to make it more accessible by publishing a paraphrase of the work in 1547 in Rome: *In mechanicas quaestiones Aristotelis, paraphrasis paulo quidem plenior* shows both his erudition in the use of avail-

⁵Niccolò Leonico Tomeo, 1456–1531.

⁶Alessandro Piccolomini, 1508–1578.

⁷Girolamo Cardano, 1501–1576.

⁸Niccolò Tartaglia, ca. 1500–1557.

⁹Leonico Tomeo (1525, 1530).

10 2. The Context

able manuscripts as well as his practical knowledge of the contemporary mechanical technology. $^{10}\,$

Tomeo's translation and Piccolomini's paraphrase were the main channels through which the knowledge of the *Mechanical Problems* spread during the sixteenth century. Baldi himself made use of both of these works in his commentary. Other authors discussed only some of the questions of the Aristotelian text and made important criticisms of the principles and arguments presented in it.

Niccolò Tartaglia, in Book Seven of his *Quesiti et inventioni diverse*, published in 1546, analyzes the general principles stated in *Mechanical Problems* and argues that they were not adequate for the correct solution to the problem of the equilibrium of the balance in the first two questions of that work.¹¹ Tartaglia's criticism preluded a new approach to the problem of the balance, which was developed in Book Eight of *Quesiti et inventioni diverse* on the basis of the concept of *gravitas secundum situm* formulated in several writings ascribed to the medieval author Jordanus Nemorarius, dating back to the thirteenth century.¹²

A similar discussion of the Aristotelian text can be found in *De subtilitate* by Girolamo Cardano, ¹³ who also favorably considered the medieval science of weights. For Cardano, the study of the balance was part of a general discussion on motion in connection with technical contrivances: the analysis of the working of a machine was for him an important means for understanding natural principles. It was within the context of a general theory of motion and rest that Cardano studied heavy bodies in motion and at rest in the balance and in other machines. Though he considered many arguments in *Mechanical Problems* as inadequate and superseded by the medieval science of weights and by Archimedes' work, the Aristotelian text exerted a remarkable influence on Cardano, and supplied a considerable amount of topics for discussion in his *Opus novum de proportionibus*. ¹⁴

Compared to these approaches, Baldi's Exercitationes represent a different way of discussing the contents of Mechanical Problems: the Exercitationes contain a systematic analysis of this work in light of Archimedean mechanical principles such as the concept of center of gravity. In his discussion of the Aristotelian text, Baldi makes frequent use of Guidobaldo's Mechanicorum liber, 15 which offers a new systematic theory of the simple

¹⁰Piccolomini (1547).

¹¹Tartaglia (1546).

¹²Jordanus Nemorarius (1565).

¹³Cardano (2004).

¹⁴Cardano (1570).

¹⁵Guidobaldo del Monte (1577, 1581).

2. The Context 11

machines. In many important digressions from the text, Baldi extends his study to include new mechanical problems similar to those presented in the ancient work.

This new approach was made possible by the recovery and study of Greek geometry and mechanics by Federico Commandino and Guidobaldo del Monte. In the mid-sixteenth century Commandino started a systematic program of Latin translation of works by great Greek mathematicians such as Euclid, Archimedes, Apollonius and Pappus. These translations were supplemented with important notes, but did not add anything new to the original texts. In some cases, however, the lack of a textual tradition resulted in the production of a new work. The most important example is *Liber de centro gravitatis solidorum*, conceived as a reconstruction of a lost ancient text containing a theory of the center of gravity presupposed by some theorems in other works of Archimedes.¹⁶

After this reconstruction Commandino did not continue with mechanical topics, apart from his translation of Pappus' *Mathematical Collections*, which in Book Eight contains a summary of Hero's *Mechanics*. But he did not work on the main ancient text concerning the theory of the center of gravity, i.e., Archimedes' *On the Equilibrium of Planes*, which was not included in his 1558 edition of Archimedes' works.¹⁷ The task of studying and commenting this text was left to the most famous of Commandino's pupils, Guidobaldo del Monte, who first used the law of the equilibrium of the balance given in this text as the foundation of a rigorous theory of the simple machines in *Mechanicorum liber*, and then expounded and explained Archimedes' work in the form of a paraphrase.¹⁸

These works established the Archimedean method of dealing with static problems as superior to those used in *Mechanical Problems* and in the *scientia de ponderibus*. Though the tradition of the medieval science of weights followed by Tartaglia and Cardano was sharply criticized by Guidobaldo in the treatise on the balance inserted in *Mechanicorum liber*, the Aristotelian work was still considered to be relevant to the study of mechanical problems, and the principle of equilibrium formulated in this work was regarded as true and fundamental, and simply in need of a better explanation.

This explanation was given by Guidobaldo within the context of the general development of mechanics described in the preface to Book One

¹⁶Commandino (1565).

¹⁷Archimedes (1558).

¹⁸Guidobaldo del Monte (1588).

12 2. The Context

of *Paraphrasis*,¹⁹ where Archimedes' work is considered as laying the true foundation of mechanical science, but at the same time as being closely connected to the Aristotelian work. The general theoretical principle presented in *Mechanical Problems* needed to be specified by determining the exact proportion between weights and distances in the lever. This idea was clearly expressed by Baldi in his biography of Archimedes, included in *Vite de' matematici*:

Since Archimedes (as is probable and as Guidobaldo himself guessed in the preface to Book One of On the Equilibrium of Planes) regarded this Aristotelian work as based on solid principles, but not very clearly explained, he wanted to make it more explicit and more easily understandable by adding mathematical demonstrations to physical principles. Aristotle solved the problem concerning the reason why the longer the lever, the easier it is to move the weight, by saving that this happens because of the greater length on the side of the moving power; this was true according to his principle, in which he supposed that things which are at a greater distance from the center move more easily and with greater force; the cause of which he saw in the greater speed with which the larger circle moves compared to the smaller circle. This cause is indeed true, but lacks precision; for given a weight, a lever and a power, I do not know how I should divide the lever at the point where it turns so that the given power balances the given weight. Archimedes accepted Aristotle's principle but went further; he was not satis field with saying that the force would be greater on the longer side of the lever, but he determined how much longer it should be, that is, what proportion it should have with the shorter side, so that the given power would balance the given weight. [...] He established this with a brilliant demonstration in Book One of On the Equilibrium of Planes, which, as Guidobaldo pointed out, was the book of *Elements* of the whole field of mechanics. In the preface of his paraphrase of Archimedes' work, Guidobaldo showed that Archimedes had followed Aristotle entirely, as far as the principles were concerned, but to them had added his own exquisite demonstrations.²⁰

¹⁹Guidobaldo del Monte (1588, 4).

²⁰Baldi (1887, 54–55).

2. The Context 13

This is the program of Baldi's *Exercitationes*: to supply the Aristotelian *Mechanical Problems* with Archimedes' principles and demonstrations.

Chapter 3 The Book

Bernardino Baldi most probably began his study of ancient texts on mechanics when he was young. With Guidobaldo del Monte he continued the mathematical studies he had started under the guidance of Commandino and soon turned to study Archimedes' and Pappus' works. He produced a new Latin translation of Pappus' Book Eight of *Mathematical Collections*, and then moved on to work on the *Mechanical Problems*. Biographers of Baldi, such as Affò and Crescimbeni, mention the titles of at least three works on the Aristotelian text: *Discorsi sopra le Meccaniche d'Aristotile*, *Dissertationes in mechanica problemata Aristotelis*, and *Exercitationes*, but unfortunately none of the manuscripts containing these works have survived and the only available text is that of the 1621 edition of *Exercitationes*.

It is likely that this work had already been written around 1582, but it was taken up again in 1614⁴ and eventually entrusted in 1615 to Adriaan van Roomen so that he could have it printed in Germany.⁵ Van Roomen's death on May 4 of the same year delayed the publication of Baldi's work, which was published only in 1621, four years after the death of its author who had been unable to recover it. The text was full of misprints and

¹This part of the introduction benefits from the Italian translation and commentaries of Baldi's *Exercitationes* undertaken in Milan from 2006–2008 by a research team comprising Sergio Aprosio, Antonio Becchi, Adriano Carugo, Ferruccio Franco Repellini, Enrico Gamba, Romano Gatto, Gianni Micheli and Elio Nenci. See Baldi (2010).

²Crescimbeni (2001, 120–122, 142), Affò (1783, 198).

³The manuscripts of *Dissertationes* and *Exercitationes* were previously kept at the library of the Accademia Toscana di Scienze e Lettere *La Colombaria*, but were destroyed during World War II. Some interesting notes on mechanics related to the topics discussed in *Exercitationes* are extant (ms XIII.F.25, 129r–136r) in the National Library in Naples. They are now being studied by Antonio Becchi.

⁴In a letter addressed to Pier Matteo Giordani on November 17, 1614, Baldi wrote: "I shall bring with me the original text of my work on mechanics so that we can look at it together" (Oliveriana Library in Pesaro, Cod, 430, 59).

⁵On September 3, 1615 Baldi wrote to Johann Faber asking for his help in recovering the work that had been sent to Germany. See Serrai (2002, 111–112, 142).

16 3. The Book

incorrect figures, so as to require the addition of eight pages of *errata* corrige, which are extant in only a few of the surviving copies.⁶

To give a clear idea of the contents of this important work of Renaissance mechanics, the various questions contained in it have been arranged in groups according to similar topics. Some of these groupings appeared as such in the original text; others have been formed in order to give a clearer structure to the whole treatise. Since Baldi's work has the form of a commentary, it has been necessary to quote the questions as originally stated in the ancient text.

The general principle: the figure of the circle.

The balance (Questions 1-2, 9-10, 20).

The lever (Questions 3, 21–22, 28).

The problems concerning sailing (Questions 4-7).

The easy movement of bodies with round shapes (Question 8).

The simple machines: the axle in a wheel, the pulley and the wedge (Questions 11, 13, 17–18).

The sling (Question 12).

The breaking and deformation of materials: pieces of wood and pebbles ($Questions\ 14-16$).

The force of percussion (Question 19).

The composition of motions (Questions 23–24).

The construction of beds (Question 25).

The placement of weights carried on the shoulders (Questions 26–27, 29).

The rising from a sitting position (Question 30).

Problems concerning motion (Questions 31-34).

The motion of bodies in eddying water (Question 35).

3.1 The General Principle: The Figure of the Circle

Baldi criticizes some of the main principles of Aristotelian mechanics, that is, those concerning the 'marvellous' peculiarities of the circle, and shows that they are not based on the combination of opposites with each other. Following Archimedes he considers the entire mechanical science as based on the theory of the center of gravity, of which he gives a definition different from those given by Pappus and Commandino.⁷ In his definition he specifies that the center of gravity of a body "is a point placed inside or outside its magnitude." He shows that in the case of arches, which

⁶Becchi (2009).

⁷Pappus of Alexandria (1588, 306v), Commandino (1565, 1r/v).

⁸See the figure in Baldi (1621, 3).

3. The Book 17

are discussed in Question 16, the center of gravity is indeed placed in the outside space enclosed by the object and not inside the shape of the object. Within the discussion of the principles of the circle, Baldi was the first to determine the exact ratio in the composition of motions resulting in a circular motion. When Baldi discusses the reason why, according to Aristotle, the weight of the lever added to the weight to be moved makes the action of the moving power easier, he points out that this is true only in the case of the type of lever considered in the text, that is, a lever in which the fulcrum is placed between the weight and the moving power.

3.2 The Balance: Questions 1-2, 9-10 and 20

The first question, which asks why larger balances are more accurate than smaller ones, was presented by the author of *Mechanical Problems* in order to give an example of the fourth peculiarity of the circle, that is, that the points on the diameter describing the circle move more quickly the more distant they are from the center. This peculiarity of the circle is only stated, but not demonstrated in the Aristotelian text. Baldi gives a rigorous geometrical demonstration of this using the example of the astrolabe, which is more precise the greater its radius.⁹

In the second question it is asked why, if the support of a balance is fixed from above, does the balance revert back to its original position of equilibrium after the beam has inclined and the weight is removed; on the other hand, if the support is placed below the beam after it has been inclined, why does it not return to its original position. Baldi points out that the possible cases are not two, but three, according to the support being placed above the beam, below it or at its center of gravity. ¹⁰ He then explains, on the basis of the theory of the center of gravity, the different ways in which the three types of balance behave and adds some interesting theorems concerning their different sensitivities. He discusses the situation of equilibrium of different bodies, such as the sarissa or long lance and the spinning top, as well as the wonderful case of the equilibrium of a little cardboard figure representing a tightrope-walker holding as a balancing pole a wire with two little lead spheres fixed at either end. Finally he gives an explanation for the great power of the battering ram.

⁹The assumption that larger balances are more accurate than smaller ones had already been criticized by Tartaglia in Book Seven of his *Quesiti et inventioni diverse*, 1546. ¹⁰This fact had already been remarked by Tartaglia, who in Book Eight of his *Quesiti et inventioni diverse* explains the equilibrium of a balance with its support at the center of gravity on the basis of the principles of the medieval science of weights.

18 3. The Book

The ninth question can be connected with a question discussed at the beginning of this work. It asks: "why can weights be raised more easily by means of larger pulleys than by smaller ones?" The explanation given is that pulleys with greater diameters work like balances with longer arms: in both cases things are moved and raised more easily and more quickly by means of greater diameters, which at the same time describe greater circles. Baldi agrees with the idea to relate the pulleys to the balance, but disagrees with the other aspects of the explanation. Referring to a proposition in Guidobaldo's Mechanicorum liber. 11 he points out that ease of motion is contrary to the speed (with which it is done), that is, in modern terms, in machines the product of the force and the distance is constant. However, Baldi agrees with Aristotle that in practice pulleys with larger diameters work better. This is due to the ratio between the diameter of the pulley and the diameter of the axis: the greater this ratio, the easier the motion. The friction between the axis and the wheel of the pulley is also to be considered: such friction is more easily overcome by pulleys with larger wheels.

In the second part of his commentary to this question, Baldi discusses a topic so far ignored, that is, the case of wheels turned by a crank operated by hand or by foot. As with the lever, here as well the greater the ratio between the crank arm and the radius of the wheel axe, the easier the movement. There are two types of crank: those moved by hand with a straight arm, and those moved by foot with a bent arm. Referring to the example of the knife-grinder and his grindstone, Baldi asks why the grindstone moved by foot is fitted with a bent arm: he points out that, in modern terms, the bending of the arm helps to overcome the upper dead point. Finally, he examines two wheels of equal dimensions but of different weights turning on equal axes: he asks why the lighter wheel is moved more easily, but stops earlier. The reason given is that the heavier wheel at the beginning has greater resistance to the impressed force, but afterwards retains it for a longer time.

Question 10 asks: "why is a balance moved more easily when it is without a weight than when it has one?" Here the author of *Mechanical Problems* introduces an idea that later in the seventeenth century would be treated with the help of the concept of *inertia*. He asks why a balance with a lighter arm is more easily moved than one with a heavier arm. The reason given is that a heavier weight is more difficult to move, not only in the opposite direction, but also when it is at an angle. The Aristotelian explanation is considered insufficient by Baldi, who points

¹¹Guidobaldo del Monte (1577, 105v).

3. The Book

out that the argument is in contrast to the experience of adding a given weight to two balances which are in equilibrium with different weights. In the Aristotelian work, the question was raised not only in connection with balances, but also in relation to wheels and other similar bodies. The Latin text presented by Baldi ought to be corrected by checking Tomeo's translation.¹²

Textual problems also occur in Question 20 concerning the steelyard, where a whole line of the original text is missing. ¹³ The steelyard is a balance with unequal arms: the body to be weighed is suspended from the shorter arm and a counterpoise can be moved along the longer arm until equilibrium is reached. The author asks why a steelyard can weigh heavy pieces of meat with a small weight. The answer given by the author is that the steelyard can be considered as both balance and lever at the same time, and be reduced to the figure of the circle. Baldi has no objections to the reduction of the steelyard to the lever and simply points out that in theory this instrument can be used in two different ways: either by keeping the fulcrum fixed and making the counterpoise slide to a different position, or by keeping the counterpoise fixed and changing the position of the fulcrum. But he warns that in practice the steelyard is used in the first way.

3.3 *The Lever*: Questions 3, 21–22, 28

Recalling what has been said at the beginning of the work, Question 3 asks why small forces can move heavy weights by means of a lever. The Aristotelian solution consists in making the lever equivalent to the beam of a balance with its support placed below and stating that the greater the distance of the power from the fulcrum, the more easily the weight can be moved because, under the impulse of the same weight, the greater the radius is from the center, the more rapidly it moves. Baldi, however, rejects the idea that speed can be considered as the cause for the working of the lever because it was inconceivable for him to explain the equilibrium of the balance by referring to motion. The Aristotelian distinction between 'actually' (actu) and 'potentially' (potentie) did not allow something at rest to be considered as 'potentially' in motion. The true explanation, according to Baldi, had been given by Archimedes in Proposition 6 of Book One of his work On the Equilibrium of Planes, though it would be necessary to indicate the cause of the inverse proportion stated in that

¹²Leonico Tomeo (1530, 37).

¹³Leonico Tomeo (1530, 41).

20 3. The Book

proposition. For Baldi, the ultimate justification for the Archimedean law of the lever is the 'equality of status' resulting from placing equal powers at the ends of a straight line in a given position.

As to the working of the dental forceps and nutcrackers analyzed in Questions 21 and 22, both instruments were regarded by the ancient author as formed by two levers working in opposite directions, having the point of junction as the fulcrum. Baldi follows here the explanation of Piccolomini.¹⁴

In Question 28 the author analyzes the working of the swing-beam (shaduf) used to draw water from a well, but without relating the structure of this machine to the lever.¹⁵ He points out that the operation normally occurs in two stages and that the empty bucket can easily be let down whereas it is difficult to draw it up when it is full. The disadvantage of letting it down more slowly with the help of this machine is balanced by the advantage of reducing its weight when drawing it up: this result is produced by a stone attached to the end of the swing-beam. Piccolomini and other authors after him felt the need to give a true mechanical explanation of the working of this machine, showing that it is based on the principle of the lever.¹⁶ To this explanation, Baldi added the remark that one also has to take into account the weight of the body of the man who lets down the empty bucket by lifting the loaded end of the beam.

3.4 Problems Concerning Sailing: Questions 4-7

In Question 4, the author asks why the rowers placed mid-ship are those who mostly move it. This is explained by considering the oar as acting like a lever where the thole pin is the fulcrum, because it is fixed, the sea is the weight, and the sailor is the force that moves the lever. The explanation is again based on the principle of the lever: in proportion to the increasing distance of the moving force from the fulcrum, the weight will move more. Baldi points out, however, that the fulcrum is not actually the thole pin, but the sea, whereas the ship is the weight placed at the thole pin, that is, between the power and the fulcrum. This is the kind of lever discussed by Guidobaldo in Proposition 2 of his treatise *De vecte* contained in *Mechanicorum liber*: ¹⁷ here the weight is placed between the

¹⁴Piccolomini (1547, 45r/v).

¹⁵This machine is made of a long beam pivoting on top of another beam vertically driven into the ground: the bucket hangs from one end of the pivoting beam, whereas a load or stone is attached to the other.

¹⁶Piccolomini (1547, 61r/v).

¹⁷Guidobaldo del Monte (1577, 39r–40v).

3. The Book 21

fulcrum and the power, and the ratio of the power to the weight is the same as that of the distance of the weight from the fulcrum to the distance of the power from the fulcrum. However, Baldi points out that Aristotle's argument would be conclusive if the ship were kept still by some hindrance: in this case the oar would move in the way described in the text, that is, the fulcrum would be placed at the thole pin and the weight would be the sea. Baldi argues moreover that it would be more correct to say that the rowers move the ship 'more easily' rather than 'mostly.'¹⁸

The following Question 5 asks why the rudder, which is small and at the end of the vessel, has such great power that the large mass of the ship can be moved by a small tiller and by the strength of one single man exerting just a small effort. The answer given is that the rudder is a lever, the sea the weight and the helmsman the moving power. The rudder works differently from the oar because it does not strike the sea at right angles to its length, and it does not drive the ship forward, but turns it while it moves, receiving the sea at an angle. It is placed at the end and not in the middle of the ship because a moved body can move most easily when the moving power acts from the end. Baldi criticizes the relation between the movement of the oar and that of the rudder as established by the author of Mechanical Problems, who applies to the rudder the same argument used for the oar, putting the rowlock at the middle of the oar and considering the rowlock as moving along the oar. Baldi prefers to consider the sea as the fulcrum, and the rowlock or the hinge on which the rudder pivots as the weight. This explains why, when the ship is motionless, the rudder has no effect on the ship's movements to the left or to the right, whereas its effect is great when the ship is moving, because the movement of the ship at an angle is caused by the very movement of the sea which presses against the blade. The rudder works effectively only if it is positioned at an angle and the ship is moving.

To make his point clear Baldi resorts to his personal observation of the way in which boatmen transport goods and people from one bank of a large river to the other. He describes the case of two pontoons joined by means of a plank, with the rudder placed between the two sterns, and the pontoons tied to a rope fixed to one of the banks. If the rudder is turned at an angle, its blade is pushed by the flowing water and drags the boat to the other bank. It is clear that the cause of this movement is not just the percussion of the water against the blade of the rudder, as Aristotle thought, but the pressure exerted by the flowing water upon the blade. The same explanation can be given for the sails of windmills which, by

¹⁸Baldi (1621, 41).

22 3. The Book

receiving wind at an angle, move the grindstones, and for the tails of birds and fish, which also function like rudders.



Figure 3.1: Pontoon, Baldi (1621), 48

Question 6 asks why it is that the higher its yard-arm, the faster a ship moves, even though the sails and the wind are the same. The author of Mechanical Problems answers that this is because the mast acts as a lever and the fulcrum is where the mast is fixed, whereas the ship is the weight and the wind in the sails is the moving power. Baldi points out that, though it is true that the higher its yard-arm, the faster a ship moves, this causes at the same time a rising of the stern and a sinking of the prow. In fact, the kind of lever to be considered here is the bent lever, similar to that which operates in a pair of tongs for extracting nails, where the fulcrum is the joint. The mast of a ship, when bent by the wind, shifts and raises the weight of the ship. Since it is a bent lever, the power of the wind acting on the yard-arm is to the distance from the fulcrum as the distance from the fulcrum is to the weight of the ship. The center of gravity of the ship is placed toward the prow because of the arrangement of the cargo. As a consequence, the smaller the ratio between the two sides of the lever and the larger the weight, the less the power will prevail in raising the weight.

Question 7 asks why it is that when the sailors wish to sail before the wind, even if the wind is not blowing from the stern, they reef the sail

3. The Book 23

in the direction of the helmsman and slacken the part of the sail toward the bows. The explanation given is that this happens because the rudder cannot act against the wind when it is strong, but it can when the wind is so light that they can catch it. Thus, the wind carries the ship forward, but the rudder forces it to blow from the stern, acting against the sea as a lever.

Baldi explains this short and obscure text by resorting to Piccolomini's commentary, where this case is reduced to that of a lever in which the wind is the weight, the rudder is the power, and the fulcrum is placed not at the middle of the ship, but toward the prow. Baldi however points out that this explanation raises the objection that the fulcrum should be steady, whereas here it is moving.

3.5 The Easy Movement of Bodies with Round Shapes: Question 8

In connection with the principle stated at the beginning of the work, Question 8 asks why round figures are the easiest to move. This problem gives Baldi the opportunity to make the first large digression. Aristotle distinguishes between three different types of circular motion: the motion of a circle on a plane, the motion of a circle around a fixed horizontal pivot, and the motion of a circle around a fixed vertical pivot. Baldi examines the following cases: the motion of a circle and an ellipse on a horizontal plane, the motion of a circle on an inclined plane, the impact of a wheel against an obstacle, and the motion on the bend of two wheels having the same axle. Then he discusses the problem of the motion of a cylinder and of a cone on a horizontal plane. The digression ends with an analysis of Aristotle's third type of rotating motion, that is, the motion of a circle around a vertical pivot. Baldi includes the case in which the axis of rotation is at an angle with the vertical line.

These cases are discussed in detail as follows: a circle or a sphere is at rest on a horizontal plane for the same reason that explains the equilibrium of a balance with equal arms loaded with equal weights. In a circle or sphere, the equal weights are the two equal parts of the figure on the right and on the left of the point of the plane on which they are standing and which acts as a fulcrum. Baldi makes the important observation that the motion on the horizontal plane is easiest because the center of gravity is neither raised in relation to the plane, nor with respect to the center of the earth. In the case of figures which are not circular, such as the ellipse, the

¹⁹Piccolomini (1547, 29r).

24 3. The Book

center of gravity is raised and lowered during the motion on the horizontal plane. Furthermore, the effort made to push an ellipse forward is not constant, but changes constantly because the center of gravity goes up and down in varying ways. This happens also in the case of figures with sides such as polygons. In the case of the motion of a circle or sphere on an inclined plane, Baldi points out that the vertical line passing through the center of gravity of the figure does not go through the point of the plane on which the figure is placed, but further down, so that the figure is no longer supported by the plane, but rolls down the plane. In this case the two sides of the figure on the right and on the left of the point at which it touches the plane are not symmetrical. Baldi then shows that the equilibrium of a circle or sphere on an inclined plane is determined by the type of lever on which the weight of the figure, which is concentrated in the center of gravity, is placed between the fulcrum and the power that keeps the circle or sphere in equilibrium. He also shows that the smaller the angle of inclination of the plane, the less power is needed to keep the equilibrium. Baldi also mentions Pappus' Proposition 9 of Book Eight, which deals with the problem of determining the power needed to pull a weight up an inclined plane, but he does not discuss it since it was based on different hypotheses and arguments.²⁰

Baldi questions why wheels with a larger diameter overcome an obstacle more easily than wheels with a shorter diameter. He presents two solutions to the problem, one based on the displacement of the center of gravity, the other on the law of the lever. The first solution shows that in overcoming the obstacle, the center of gravity of the two wheels are both raised to the same height, which is that of the obstacle; but the center of gravity of the larger wheel moves through a greater distance to reach the same height, so that the centers of gravity of the two wheels actually move on two different inclined planes, which have the same height but a different inclination. The second solution to the same problem shows that the two wheels can be considered as two levers of the second type, in which the weight is placed between the fulcrum and the power: the lever corresponding to the larger wheel needs less power than the lever corresponding to the smaller wheel.

Baldi then discusses the problem concerning the motion of two wheels with the same axle: when they turn, both wheels describe two concentric circular paths and the external wheel describes the circumference with a greater diameter, whereas the internal wheel could even remain at rest when it is at the center of the rotation. Baldi goes on to analyze the

²⁰Pappus of Alexandria (1588, 313r).

3. The Book 25

motion of a cylinder which rolls on a horizontal plane: if the bases of the cylinder are perpendicular to the axis, the cylinder moves in a straight line and describes two parallel lines; if the bases of the cylinder are not perpendicular to the axis and therefore elliptical, the lines described by the cylinder are still parallel, but curved rather than straight. Considering then the motion of a cone placed on a horizontal plane, Baldi shows that when the vertex remains in the same place, the lines traced by the points touching the plane are concentric circles. When the base of the cone is not perpendicular to the axis, Baldi wrongly believes that the line traced by the motion of the cone is an ellipsis.

Lastly, Baldi considers the case of a rotating motion around a vertical axis, such as the motion of a potter's lathe or the motion of a top. In this kind of motion the center of gravity remains still so that a small force is needed to start the motion and to keep it going, whereas the motion continues for a long time after the force has ceased to act. Baldi also points out that in this kind of motion the axis of rotation keeps its position unless an external cause interferes. Even when the axis of rotation is at an angle with the vertical line, it retains this position because the center of gravity moves neither up nor down. When the center of gravity is not on the axis of symmetry of a circular figure, during rotation it would not be at rest but would also be rotating and would move up and down: since the movement of the center of gravity upward is a violent motion, it would quickly stop.

3.6 The Simple Machines. The Axle in the Wheel, the Pulley and the Wedge: Questions 11, 13, 17–18

Though in the text of *Mechanical Problems* there is no mention of the axle in the wheel, Baldi discusses the properties of this machine in Question 13. By the end of his commentary on Question 11, he already briefly mentions an important aspect of the working of this machine. There the question was why heavy bodies are more easily carried on rollers than on chariots, though the latter have larger wheels than the former. Baldi agrees with Aristotle that the cause was the lack of friction in the case of rollers, whereas in the case of chariots there is the axle against which the wheels rub. He then adds that enormous weights are most effectively moved by means of rollers if levers are fixed to them, though in this case the resulting motion will be very slow. The slowness is compensated, however, by the ease in moving heavy loads. He gives a geometrical demonstration of this, but without relating it to the theory of the axle in the wheel. But in Question 13, he refers directly to this theory. In this question it is asked:

26 3. The Book

why are the longer bars (collopes) more easy to move round a spindle (iugum) than smaller ones; and likewise why are less bulky windlasses (suculae) more easily moved than thicker ones by the same force?²¹

Aristotle teaches that this is possible because both the spindle and the windlass are at the center, whereas the length of the bars sticking out from them represents the distance from the center, which is the radius. Now the radii of greater circles move more quickly and a greater distance is traversed by effect of the same force than the radii of smaller circles. In the case of less bulky windlasses, given an equal length of the bars, the part outside the wood is greater. After giving a geometrical demonstration of Aristotle's argument, Baldi explains the etymology of the Latin word sucula, meaning windlass, and adds that this was called axle in the wheel (axis in peritrochio) by the ancient writers on mechanics.²² Among the modern authors, Baldi mentions Guidobaldo del Monte who discusses this mechanical power in his Mechanicorum liber, where the functioning of this machine is explained on the basis of the principle of the lever.²³

Question 17 asks: "why are great weights split by a small wedge, and why is great pressure exerted by it?" Aristotle and more recently Guidobaldo tried to reduce the wedge to the lever.²⁴ Baldi declares that in order to find the true solution, he will not follow their opinion. But first he illustrates Aristotle's solution, showing that it is false and unworthy of such a great philosopher. He then mentions Guidobaldo's solution, which is certainly very clever but, in his opinion, presents a difficulty: he wrongly compares the wedge to an inclined plane. Baldi points out that when an inclined plane is reduced to the lever, the fulcrum is fixed, whereas in the case of the wedge reduced to the lever, the fulcrum continuously changes position.

Considering these difficult aspects of the problem, Baldi tries to explain the strength exerted by the wedge from a different point of view. He distinguishes two types of wedges: those that can be reduced to the nature of the line, and those that can be reduced to the nature of the surface. The former are shaped like lines ending in a point, such as needles, nails or daggers; the latter are made of two surfaces ending in a cutting line, such as knives, swords or axes. Baldi adds that wedges operate in two ways: either they are driven by a hammer, like axes, or they penetrate under the

²¹Baldi (1621, 89).

²²Pappus of Alexandria (1588, 329v–330v).

²³Guidobaldo del Monte (1577, 106r/v).

²⁴Guidobaldo del Monte (1588, 112v–113v).

action of a push and under pressure, such as swords, daggers, chisels and awls, etc.

At the end of this chapter, Baldi analyzes the action of the lever in the act of splitting a thing with a wedge by considering the thing that is being split rather than the wedge itself. He shows that the fulcrum is continuously changing position so that the splitting becomes easier and easier. As a last case he analyzes the action of splitting a thing by means of a chisel used as a lever shaped like a wedge: the larger the ratio between the part of the chisel outside the split and the part inside it, the easier it is to split the thing.

The topics discussed in Question 18 are systems of pulleys and the ratio between power used and weight lifted. Baldi begins by quoting Aristotle's opinion according to which the greater the number of pulleys, the easier it is to lift weights. He corrects the way in which Aristotle had reduced the pulley to the lever and points out that the pulley is a lever with equal arms, which can be further reduced to a balance. On this basis, he rejects the Aristotelian statement that by augmenting the number of pulleys it would be easier to lift weights and shows that in a system of five pulleys the power applied is equal to the weight lifted. This is a system where the rope tied to the weight passes over fixed pulleys.²⁵ In this system the force of the weight is not reduced, but power and weight are equal. Then Baldi argues that in a fixed pulley, power and weight are equal, whereas in a mobile pulley the power needed is half the weight. He shows how this principle works in a system of four pulleys by reducing it to four levers with equal arms, and calculates that a weight of 1000 librae is reduced 16 times so that the power needed to hold it would be a weight of 62.5 librae.²⁶

3.7 The Sling: Question 12

The general problem of the motion of projectiles is discussed in Questions 32–34, whereas in Question 12 it is asked: "why are missiles thrown by a sling at a greater distance than those thrown by a hand?" Aristotle solves the question by saying:

perhaps this happens because the thrower hurls the missile which is already moved by the sling, since he throws it after swinging the sling round in a circle; but when projected from

²⁵Baldi (1621, 123).

²⁶Baldi (1621, 126).

the hand it starts from rest. For everything is moved more easily when it is already set in motion than when it is at rest.

He adds moreover:

can it perhaps also be because in the case of the sling the hand becomes the center, and the sling the radius of the circular motion? Thus, the greater the radius, the faster the movement. But the circular movement made by throwing by hand is smaller than that made by the sling.²⁷

Baldi approves Aristotle's solution, but adds more precisely that when the missile is thrown by the sling, the center of the circular motion is not the hand, but rather that part of the arm that is joined to the shoulder. He is also surprised that Aristotle did not notice that the thrower, in the very act of hurling, slowly rotates the sling around his head. He also adds that the speed of the missile is not acquired by just the rotation of the sling, but by the *impetus* generated in the very act of throwing the missile.

3.8 The Breaking and Deformation of Materials. Pieces of Wood and Pebbles: Questions 14–16

In Question 14 it is asked why the same piece of wood held at equal distances from the knee is more easily broken if one holds it far away from the knee than if one holds it quite close to it. The problem of the resistance to the breaking of a piece of wood is first discussed according to the law of the straight lever: the breaking depends on the greater or shorter distance of the point of application of the power from the fulcrum. To this obvious explanation Baldi adds another one, based on the law of the bent lever: one arm of the lever corresponds to the length of the piece of wood, the other arm to its thickness. This explains the importance of the ratio between the length and the thickness of a piece of wood in order to assess its resistance to breaking.²⁸

Question 15 is the only one which is similar to a problem discussed in another work ascribed to Aristotle. Earlier, in *Problemata* (XXII, 36), it was asked why stones on the seashore become rounded. There, the answer does not refer to the circular figure. The explanation given by the author is based on the concept that the further an object is from the center, the more rapidly it moves. As a consequence, the parts further from the

²⁷Baldi (1621, 88).

²⁸For a discussion of Questions 14 and 16, see Becchi (2004) and Valleriani (2009).

middle must be worn down and become rounded. Baldi points out that if it were a question of distance, the larger stones should be rounder than the smaller ones. But this is not the case. The problem is to be related to the natural brittleness of sharp edges and protuberances, which break easily so that the stones become smooth and rounded. As examples of the fragility of small projecting parts, he mentions the protruding parts of a statue (ears, nose, fingers, hands, feet), which can easily be broken, and the round shape of towers as well.²⁹

Question 16 contains an important digression concerning the resistance of timbers and stone arches: Baldi's treatment of this subject is beyond comparison to previous studies of the matter. The Aristotelian text asks why pieces of timber are weaker and bend more easily the longer they are. After quoting the explanation of the author (based on a reasoning already described in the comment to Question 14), Baldi engages in a detailed analysis of the resistance of a rod (resistance of different materials such as glass, wood, steel) and of the different ways in which the breaking power operates (along the axis, as in the case of a column; or in a slanting or perpendicular direction). His analysis of the resistance to breaking is based on the law of the lever (which is already used in the comment to Question 14) and on the idea that in the case of the bending of a rod a rarefaction or condensation of matters occurs. Baldi is aware of the importance of this analysis for the art of building and devotes the rest of his commentary to a discussion of the way in which the principles of mechanics can be applied to the practical knowledge of architecture: he analyzes the resistance of floors, trusses, flat arches and vaults. By relating the resistance of a timber to static problems of more complex structures, Baldi aims to "make architects more prudent." ³⁰

3.9 The Force of Percussion: Question 19

In Question 19 the author asks:

why, if one places a large axe on a block of wood and adds a large weight on top of it, does the axe not cut the wood to any extent; whereas if one strikes the wood after raising the axe, he splits it, even if the axe weighs much less than the weight that is placed on it and presses down on it?

He solves the question by saying:

²⁹Vitruvius (1567, 32).

³⁰See Becchi (2004).

it is because everything is produced by motion, and a heavy object acquires more motion due to its weight when it is moving than when it is at rest. When the weight lies on the wood, it does not move by effect of the motion, which is inherent to it by nature; but when it is already in motion, it is moved by effect of both this inherent motion and the motion of the striker.³¹

According to Baldi, what Aristotle has said up to here is brilliant; but what the philosopher adds concerning the operation of the axe acting like a wedge is refuted by him in Question 17. For Baldi the discussion of the effect of a blow with an axe must refer to the nature of falling bodies and of projectiles. He considers the example of a balance which is in equilibrium because it has equal heavy bodies lying on its scales: if other equal heavy bodies are added on both sides, the balance remains in equilibrium; but if one of these additional heavy bodies is dropped on one scale, this will cause it to go down. In the heavy body that is dropped there are two weights: one is its natural weight; the other is the weight that it acquires owing to this motion. If the additional heavy body were not just dropped, but thrown down, to its natural weight and to the weight acquired owing to its natural motion a third weight would be added, that is, the weight produced by the violence with which it is thrown.

Baldi then analyzes the circular motion of the axe during the act of striking, and the different weights that are produced in the different subsequent stages of that motion. Afterwards he points out the difference between splitting a piece of wood by striking it with an axe and splitting it by means of a wedge struck by a hammer. Finally, he discusses a "most beautiful question" (pulcherrima quaestio), that is, whether a blow from a sword is more effective near the tip or in the middle or near the hilt.

3.10 The Composition of Motions: Questions 23-24

At the beginning of *Mechanical Problems* Aristotle discusses the question of how two motions can produce a circular motion, and points out that this mixed motion can only be the result of two motions not having a constant ratio. He had previously shown that the composition of two motions having a constant ratio results in a diagonal of the figure generated by them. These arguments must have stimulated the author to reflect on the apparent paradoxes of mixed motions, which were later discussed in Questions 23 and 24. Before discussing Question 23, Baldi points out that

³¹Baldi (1621, 128–129).

this offers a splendid consideration concerning mixed motions, which were well known to the ancient authors on mechanics, as were curves such as spirals, helixes, cissoids, conchoids, etc., which they used to find the two mean proportionals (the duplication of the cube) and the squaring of the circle. The long text of the question reads:

why is it that in a rhombus, if the two extreme points move in two movements, they do not each pass through an equal straight line, but one passes through a much longer line than the other? In other words, why does the point that moves along the side pass through a distance less than the side? For one point goes through the diagonal, the other through the side which is longer, though the latter moves with one motion, and the other with two.³²

How can the paradox be solved in which two points, which move with simple motions at equal speed, move through different distances? Aristotle concludes that one of the points moves with two motions, both of which are downward, whereas the other point moves with two motions, of which one is upward and the other downward; therefore the motion of the first point is faster and moves through a longer distance.

This solution seems not only to be true, but also marvellous and worthy of Aristotle. Baldi, however, shows that this is wrong and suggests another way of solving the paradox. In any parallelogram, including the rhombus, mixed motions, if they have the same proportion, are made along the diagonal. But the proportion between diagonals and sides is always changing, and therefore the proportions between the simple motions along the sides and the mixed motions along the diagonals will also always be changing. For instance, in the rhombus the mixed motions along the diagonals are not equal: the one along the greater diagonal is faster, and the one along the smaller diagonal is slower. Likewise, the simple motions of points along the sides are not equal to the motions along the diagonal.

Question 24 is one of the best known of the *Mechanical Problems*. Here it is asked: "why is it that a greater circle revolves along a line of the same length as a smaller circle when they are fixed around the same center?" When they revolve separately, then the lengths of the lines along which each of them revolves in turn are in the same ratio as their respective sizes. Since the geometrical figure used by Aristotle is somewhat obscure, Baldi proposes to demonstrate the same conclusion by using a clearer

³²Baldi (1621, 140).

figure. Aristotle then explains the cause of such an amazing effect, after rejecting the opinion of those who think that the larger circle, when it is carried forward by the smaller circle, moves more slowly because it stops intermittently, whereas when the smaller circle is carried by the larger, it skips some space, so that the distances covered by the larger and by the smaller are the same. Before starting his demonstration, Aristotle assumes the following principles:

the same and equal force moves one mass more slowly and another more rapidly; if a body, which has a natural movement of its own, moves together with a body which has no natural movement of its own, it will move more slowly than if it moved by itself; but it will move more quickly if it moves without the other.³³

Suppose that there are two bodies, one light, which has a natural movement upward, and the other one heavy, which has a natural movement downward. If the light body were linked together with the heavy one, it would be more difficult for it to move upward and it would move more slowly than if it moved detached from the heavy body.

Moreover, that which is moved not by its own movement, but by the movement of another body, must be moved just as far as the mover moves it. Therefore if the smaller circle is moved not by its own movement, but by the movement of the larger circle, it will cover a greater distance than if it moved by its own movement. Likewise, if the smaller circle revolves carrying the large one with it, the larger circle with its rotation will not cover a greater distance than that covered by the smaller circle ³⁴

Aristotle says that those who think that each circle moves by itself when rotating around the same center are deceived. For when the smaller circle is carried by the larger one, the motion is made around the center of the larger circle; whereas if the larger circle is carried by the smaller, the motion is made around the center of the smaller. Aristotle's solution is considered by Baldi as absolutely certain and based on true causes.

³³Baldi (1621, 148).

³⁴Baldi (1621, 149).

3.11 The Construction of Beds: Question 25

In this question it is asked why beds are made with a length that is double the ends, and why the supporting ropes are not fixed diagonally? According to Aristotle, beds are probably made to those dimensions so that they may accommodate ordinary bodies: for the length is twice the width, the length being 4 cubits and the width 2 cubits. Baldi, however, remarks that in his time the proportion was 2 to 3, the length of the beds being 6 feet and the width 4 feet, so that a bed could accommodate two people. He also points out that the original text is rather obscure, both because its different readings in extant manuscripts are erroneous, and because Aristotle's argument is rather involute. Alessandro Piccolomini overcame this difficulty by using a text contained in a very ancient manuscript kept at the Marciana Library in Venice.³⁵ The ancient author gives three explanations for the reason why the supporting ropes are not fixed diagonally: 1) because in this way the timbers to which they are fixed would be less strained; 2) because the ropes would be less strained if the weight is put on the ropes stretched crosswise rather than diagonally; 3) because fewer ropes would be needed. Concerning the first reason, Baldi shows the different ways in which the timbers are strained according to whether the ropes are fixed perpendicularly or diagonally. As to the second reason, he points out that the ropes fixed diagonally are longer and therefore less resistant than those fixed perpendicularly. As the third reason Baldi calculates the length of the ropes needed when they are fixed diagonally: for a bed 6 feet long and 3 feet wide, the rope needed is about 40 feet and 2/3; this result is slightly different from that given by Piccolomini, which is 40 and 1/2.36 Baldi is astonished that the ancients did not use the more simple perpendicular arrangement of ropes, which is more resistant and requires less rope, that is 32 feet, according to his own calculation.

3.12 The Placement of Weights Carried on the Shoulders: Questions 26–27, 29

In Questions 26 and 27, the problem of carrying weights on the shoulders of a single person is discussed, and in Question 29, the problem of a weight carried by two people. Why is it more difficult to carry a long timber on the shoulders at its ends than in the middle, though the weight is the same in both cases? In Question 26 Aristotle solves the problem by considering the

³⁵Piccolomini (1547, 55r).

³⁶Piccolomini (1547, 56v, 57v).

vibration at the end of the timber and the lifting of the weight. Baldi points out that in the text it is not explained why the vibration interferes with the carrying, and he gives his own explanation by referring to the concept of center of gravity and to the idea of rarefaction and condensation of the timber carried on the shoulders, recalling what he had said concerning the breaking and the bending of materials in Question 16.

As to the role played by weight, the ancient author had remarked that a timber is more easily carried on the shoulders in the middle because in this case each of the two ends assists in lifting the other and raises the other in an upward direction. Baldi is not satisfied with this explanation and resorts to the Archimedean law of lever as defined by Guidobaldo in Proposition 3 of the treatise of the lever in his *Mechanicorum liber*.³⁷ At the end of the Question, Baldi mentions similar problems, such as the difficulty of raising a rod by holding it at one end.

In Question 27 it is asked why it is that if the weight is extremely long, it is harder to raise it up onto the shoulders, even if it is carried in the middle, than if it were shorter. Baldi says that this question is similar to the previous one and can be criticized and explained in the same way.

The discussion of the way in which a weight is carried by two people in Question 29 is more interesting. It is asked why it is that when two people carry a weight between them by means of a timber placed at its ends on their shoulders, they feel a different pressure according to their distance from the weight; the closer the carrier is to the weight, the heavier it appears to be. For the author, the timber acts like a lever: the weight is the fulcrum, the carrier nearer to the weight is the thing that is moved, and the carrier more distant from the weight is the thing that moves. Therefore the more distant the moving carrier is from the weight, that is from the fulcrum, the greater the pressure is that is felt by the one moved at the shorter end of the timber. Baldi does not agree with this and referring to Piccolomini's Paraphrasis shows that there are two levers to be considered in one single timber.³⁸ He argues that when the weight is placed at the middle of the lever, the carriers feel the same pressure, since the ratio of the length of the lever to each of its two parts is the same. At the end, Baldi discusses various cases: when the two carriers are of different height, when the weight does not hang freely from the lever, but is fixed to it so that its center of gravity changes position; and when the two carriers are of the same height but move on an inclined plane. The last case, Baldi points out, is similar to that of the wheelbarrow, which could be regarded

³⁷Guidobaldo del Monte (1577, 41r).

³⁸Piccolomini (1547, 62r).

as a lever with the weight placed between the fulcrum and the moving power.

3.13 Rising from a Sitting Position: Question 30

Question 30 asks:

why when men stand up, do they rise by making an acute angle between the shin-bone and the thigh-bone, and similarly between the trunk and the thigh-bone?

Aristotle answers that this is because equilibrium is a cause of rest and the right angle is an angle of rest and produces stability. When a man stands up his position is at right angles to the ground. When he is seated, his head and feet are not in a straight line, because the trunk is perpendicular to the thigh, as is the thigh to the lower leg. In this position he cannot rise. In order to rise he must bend the trunk and the lower leg so as to make an acute angle between them, and to bring his head immediately above his feet. Baldi rejects this solution to the problem, arguing that a man is unable to stand up from sitting, not because his position at right angles is a cause of stability, but because the center of gravity is outside the support of his feet and he is unable to lean against a stable point in the act of standing up. In order to stand up, it would be necessary to move the center of gravity so as to place it in one straight line, and this is exactly what happens by bending the trunk forward and the legs backward. In order to stand up, it is obvious that it is necessary to make acute angles, but this is not the cause of standing up, as Aristotle seems to think.

From his solution to the problem Baldi derives the solution to new questions: why the feet of men and of some animals who can walk in an upright position are not short and round, but rather long and extended in the lower part? Similarly, why are feet more extended toward the toes than toward the heel? Why those who walk on stilts keep upright by moving continually? All these questions Baldi answers by showing how, in order to keep in equilibrium, the center of gravity of both men and animals must fall inside that part of the body which makes it possible to stand up. The position of the center of gravity inside the supporting surface is a condition also for the equilibrium of objects made by man, such as vases, three-legged stools, etc. And this is the reason why the leaning towers in Pisa and in Bologna do not fall in spite of not being perpendicular to the ground.

3.14 Problems Concerning Motion: Questions 31–34

In Question 31 it is asked why it is easier to move that which is already moving than that which is stationary. Strictly speaking, this question is not mechanical since no machine is involved. Baldi gives the example of a sphere rolling on a plane by being pushed and points out that it is a physical problem. Baldi elaborates the solution given in *Mechanical Problems*: when a weight is moving in the opposite direction to the pusher, some of the power of the mover is lost; the same thing happens when the mover pushes a weight at rest. But when a body is already moving in the same direction as the pusher, it increases the force of the mover. This explanation, according to Baldi, offers a solution to the physical problem of why the speed of the natural motion of falling bodies increases continuously, and this constant push causes the acceleration of its motion.

Question 32 concerns the motion of projectiles and asks why thrown objects stop moving after a while. This, as well, is a physical problem. In *Mechanical Problems* various explanations are suggested, but Baldi accepts the solution given by Piccolomini in his *Paraphrasis*, which is based on the fact that the impressed force, by which the projectiles are moved, is not natural but accidental and violent, and as such does not last.³⁹

Question 33 deals as well with the motion of projectiles and investigates why projectiles continue to move even after the thrower no longer has direct contact with the projectile. This is a central problem within the Aristotelian theory of violent motion. Once again Baldi's solution is in line with the explanation given by Piccolomini in his Paraphrasis of Mechanical Problems according to which the nature of the impressed motion is accidental and violent and eventually peters out. The last question concerning the motion of projectiles deals with a different aspect of the problem, that is, the proportion between the thrown body and the throwing force. Question 34 asks why neither small nor large bodies move very far when thrown, but must always bear a relation to the thrower. Baldi quotes the two explanations given in the Aristotelian work: it is either because an object thrown or pushed must always offer resistance to that which throws or pushes it; or because a moving body can only move as far as it can penetrate the depths of the air. Finally, Baldi deals briefly with three questions not strictly related to the main question: why does a body turn around when thrown so that its heavier part moves to the front? Why do pebbles skimmed across the surface of water rebound sev-

³⁹Piccolomini (1547, 66v).

eral times? Why does a ball thrown against an horizontal plane rebound at equal angles?

3.15 The Motion of Bodies in Eddying Water: Question 35

The last question of *Mechanical Problems*, like the four preceding questions, concerns the motion of bodies, but in contrast connects the problem with the properties of the circle. This question asks why objects which are moving in eddying water all end their movement in the middle. Aristotle explains that the moving object is moving in two circles, one lesser and one greater, and that the greater circle, because it is moving more quickly, is turning the object around and driving it sideways into the smaller circle. Driven then from the second circle into the next inner circle and so on, the moving object ultimately reaches the middle and remains there at rest. In addition, the weight of the object overcomes the speed of the revolving circle so that it is left behind in each lesser circle in succession until it arrives at the center.

Baldi, however, does not accept Aristotle's explanation, as brilliant as it may be, and points out that whirlpools are not circles turning around the same center, but rather rotating movements along a spiral. In addition, the weight of the moving object could only cause its motion to slow down, but the movement toward the center must have a different cause.

$3.16 \quad Appendix: \ The \ Problem \ of \ the \ Two \ Mean \ Proportionals$

At the end of Baldi's commentary to the *Mechanical Problems* there is an Appendix which does not seem related to the questions discussed in the Aristotelian text. It is a classical problem from ancient mathematics: finding two mean proportionals between two given straight lines. Baldi, after mentioning the solutions given by ancient mathematicians, suggests a mechanical procedure for finding a solution, claiming its originality. The demonstration of the validity of Baldi's solution is based on the ancient demonstration produced by Pappus for a procedure suggested by Nicomede.⁴⁰

⁴⁰Pappus of Alexandria (1588).

Chapter 4 Online Sources

The open-access repository European Cultural Heritage Online (ECHO) of the Max Planck Institute for the History of Science is continuously extending its collection of sources made freely accessible as text files in xml format and/or as high-quality images via its web site echo.mpiwg-berlin.mpg.de. The following sources mentioned in the present publication and listed below are currently accessible in this way.

4.1 The First Edition of the Treatise of Baldi

Bernardino Baldi 1621

4.2 Ancient and Renaissance Sources Concerning Mechanics Used by Baldi

Niccolò Leonico Tomeo 1525 (see Thomaeus 1525)

Niccolò Tartaglia 1546

Federico Commandino 1565

Alessandro Piccolomini 1547 (1565 edition)

Jordanus Nemorarius 1565 (see Tartaglia 1565)

Federico Commandino 1575 (see Heron 1575)

Guidobaldo del Monte 1577

Guidobaldo del Monte 1581

Guidobaldo del Monte 1588

Pappus of Alexandria 1588 (1660 edition)

4.3 Other Works and Translations by Baldi

Bernardino Baldi 1589 (see Heron 1589)

Bernardino Baldi 1612a

Bernardino Baldi 1616 (bound together with Heron 1583)

4. Online Sources

4.4 Other Renaissance Sources

Vitruvius 1567 Cardano 1570 Guidobaldo del Monte 1615

Bibliography

- Affò, I. (1783). Vita di Monsignore Bernardino Baldi primo Abate di Guastalla. Parma: Filippo Carmignani.
- Archimedes (1558). Archimedis opera non nulla a Federico Commandino Urbinate nuper in Latinum conversa, et commentariis illustrata. Venezia: Paolo Manuzio.
- Baldi, B. (1589). Di Herone Alessandrino de gli automati, ouero machine se mouenti, libri due, tradotti dal greco da Bernardino Baldi Abbate di Guastalla. Venezia: Girolamo Porro.
- Baldi, B. (1612a). De Verborum Vitruvianorum significatione. Sive perpetuus in M. Vitruvium Pollionem commentarius. Accedit vita Vitruvii, eodem auctore. Augsburg: Ad insigne Pinus.
- Baldi, B. (1612b). Scamilli impares Vitruviani. A Bernardino Baldo Urbinate nova ratione explicati; refutatis priorum interpretum, Guilielmi Philandri, Danielis Barbari, Baptistae Bertani, sententiis. Augsburg: Ad insigne Pinus (apud J.Praetorium).
- Baldi, B. (1616). Heronis Ctesibii belopoeeca, hoc est telifativa Bernardino Baldo Urbinate Guastallae Abbate illustratore et interprete, item Heronis vita eodem auctore. Augsburg: David Franck.
- Baldi, B. (1621). In mechanica Aristotelis problemata exercitationes: adiecta succinta narratione de autoris vita et scriptis. Mainz: Johann Albin Witwe.
- Baldi, B. (1707). Cronica de' matematici overo epitome dell'istoria de le vite loro opera di monsignor Bernardino Baldi da Urbino Abate di Guastalla. Urbino: Angelo Antonio Monticelli.
- Baldi, B. (1887). Vite inedite di matematici italiani scritte da Bernardino Baldi e pubblicate da Enrico Narducci. Estratto da bullettino di bibliografia e storia delle scienze matematiche e fisiche 19.

42 4. Bibliography

Baldi, B. (1998). Le vite de' matematici. Edizione annotata e commentata della parte medievale e rinascimentale, ed. by Elio Nenci. Milano: FrancoAngeli.

- Baldi, B. (2010). In mechanica Aristotelis problemata exercitationes, vol.
 1: Testo latino riveduto e corretto con traduzione italiana a fronte, ed. by Elio Nenci. Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Becchi, A. (2004). Q. XVI. Leonardo, Galileo e il caso Baldi: Magonza, 26 marzo 1621. Venezia: Marsilio.
- Becchi, A. (2009). Uno e trino. Impronte stravaganti di un testimone postumo (1621). In F. P. Di Teodoro (Ed.), Saggi di letteratura architettonica, da Vitruvio a Winckelmann, vol. 1, pp. 19–35. Firenze: L.S. Olschki.
- Cardano, G. (1570). Opus novum de proportionibus numerorum, motuum, ponderum, sonorum, aliarumque rerum [...]. Basel: Heinrich Petri.
- Cardano, G. (2004). De subtilitate. Edizione critica libri I-VII, ed. by Elio Nenci. Milano: FrancoAngeli.
- Commandino, F. (1565). Federici Commandini Urbinatis liber de centro gravitatis solidorum. Bologna: Alessandro Benacci.
- Commandino, F. (1575). Heronis Alexandrini spiritalium liber. A Federico Commandino Urbinate liber ex Graeco in Latinum conversus. Urbino: Domenico Frisolino.
- Crescimbeni, G. M. (2001). La vita di Bernardino Baldi Abate di Guastalla, ed. by Ilaria Filograsso. Urbino: QuattroVenti.
- Drake, S. and P. L. Rose (1971). The Pseudo-Aristotelian Questions of Mechanics in Renaissance Culture. *Studies in the Renaissance* 18, 65–104.
- Guidobaldo del Monte (1577). Guidi Ubaldi e Marchionibus Montis mechanicorum liber. Pesaro: Girolamo Concordia.
- Guidobaldo del Monte (1581). Le mechaniche dell'illustriss. sig. Guido Ubaldo de' Marchesi del Monte: tradotte in volgare dal sig. Filippo Pigafetta. Venezia: Francesco De Franceschi.

4. Bibliography 43

Guidobaldo del Monte (1588). Guidi Ubaldi e Marchionibus Montis in duos Archimedis aequeponderantium libros paraphrasis scholiis illustrata. Pesaro: Girolamo Concordia.

- Guidobaldo del Monte (1609). Guidi Ubaldi e Marchionibus Montis problematum astronomicorum libri septem. Venezia: Bernardo Giunti, Giovanni Battista Ciotti e soci.
- Guidobaldo del Monte (1615). Guidi Ubaldi e Marchionibus Montis de cochlea libri quatuor. Venezia: Evangelista Deuchino.
- Jordanus Nemorarius (1565). Jordani opusculum de ponderositate Nicolai Tartaleae studio correctum, novisque figuris auctum. Venezia: Curzio Troiano Navò.
- Leonico Tomeo, N. (1525). Nicolai Leonici Thomaei opuscula nuper in lucem aedita quorum nomina proxima habentur pagella. Venezia: Bernardino Vitali.
- Leonico Tomeo, N. (1530). Aristotelis Stagiritae parva quae vocant naturalia. De sensu et sensili. De memoria et reminiscentia. De somno et vigilia. De insomniis. De divinatione per somnia. De animalium motione. De animalium incessu. De extensione et brevitate vitae. De Iuventute et senectute, morte et vita, et de spiratione. Omnia in Latinum conversa, et antiquorum more explicata a Nicolao Leonico Thomaeo. Eiusdem opuscula nuper in lucem edita. Paris: Simon de Colines, Louis Cyaneus.
- Micheli, G. (1995). Le origini del concetto di macchina. Firenze: L.S. Olschki.
- Pappus of Alexandria (1588). Pappi Alexandrini mathematicae collectiones a Federico Commandino Urbinate in Latinum conversae, et commentariis illustratae. Pesaro: Girolamo Concordia.
- Piccolomini, A. (1547). In mechanicas quaestiones Aristotelis, paraphrasis paulo quidem plenior. [...] Eiusdem commentarium de certitudine mathematicarum disciplinarum. Roma: Antonio Blado.
- Serrai, A. (2002). Bernardino Baldi. La vita, le opere. La biblioteca. Milano: Edizioni Sylvestre Bonnard.
- Tartaglia, N. (1546). Quesiti et inventioni diverse. Venezia: Venturino Ruffinelli.

44 4. Bibliography

Valleriani, M. (2009). The Transformation of Aristotle's Mechanical Questions. A Bridge Between the Italian Renaissance Architects and Galileo's First New Science. *Annals of Science 66*, 183–208.

Vitruvius (1567). De architectura libri decem cum commentariis Danielis Barbari. Venezia: Francesco De Franceschi, Johann Crigher.

Part 2: Facsimile